





المقررات الإجرائية DECISIONS

REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR THE EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN

October 2021

Sixty-eighth session

Decision No. 1 Election of officers

Chair: H.E. Dr Ali Muhammad Miftah Al-Zinati, Minister of Health of Libya

Vice Chair: H.E. Dr Ahmed Robleh Abdilleh, Minister of Health of Djibouti

Vice Chair: H.E. Dr Hala Zayed, Minister of Health and Population of Egypt

Based on the Rules of Procedure of the Regional Committee, the Committee decided that the following should constitute the Drafting Committee:

Dr Ahmed El-Sobky (Egypt); Dr Rana Muhammad Safdar (Pakistan); Dr Shaker Abdulaziz Alomary (Saudi Arabia); Dr Mohamed Abdi Jama (Somalia); Dr Amel Alfatih (Sudan); Dr Fâyçal Ben Salah (Tunisia); Dr Hussain Alrand (United Arab Emirates); Dr Mohammed Mustafa Rajamanar (Yemen).

Secretariat: Dr Rana Hajjeh, Dr Christoph Hamelmann, Dr Rick Brennan, Dr Maha El-Adawy, Dr Asmus Hammerich, Dr Yvan Hutin, Mr Tobias Boyd.

Decision No. 2 Special procedures for the virtual 68th session of the WHO Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean

Preamble

- 1. At its meeting in February 2021, the Programme Subcommittee of the Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean agreed to an extensive agenda for the 68th session of the Regional Committee, which was scheduled to take place at the WHO Regional Office in Cairo, Egypt, from 11 to 14 October 2021. However, the subsequent volatile situation induced by the COVID-19 pandemic made it difficult to envisage that the Regional Committee session could proceed as originally planned, since it would be both logistically challenging, if not impossible, and a potential health risk for Member State delegations and other participants to gather together at the Regional Office. It therefore became necessary to consider alternative arrangements for the Regional Committee session.
- 2. At its meeting on 29 June 2021 the Programme Subcommittee of the Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean considered the proposals presented by the Regional Director for the Eastern Mediterranean concerning arrangements for the 68th session of the Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Considering the uncertain development of the epidemiological situation in the Region, the Subcommittee endorsed the proposal to hold the 68th session virtually, similar to the Seventy-fourth World Health Assembly held from 24 May to 1 June 2021, as well as other regions' planned committees.
- 3. Special procedures need to be put in place so that the Regional Committee can pursue its work in a virtual session. The special procedures to regulate the conduct of the virtual session of the Regional Committee are set out in Annex 1 to the decision below. The said special procedures shall

- apply to the meetings of the Regional Committee opening on 11 October and closing not later than 14 October 2021.
- 4. Both the text of this decision and the special procedures detailed in Annex 1 closely follow the arrangements adopted by the 67th Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean held in 2020, as well as other global governing bodies meetings held in 2021.

Therefore, in view of the foregoing, the Regional Committee:

- Recalling its decision to hold its 68th session virtually if the COVID-19 pandemic did not allow for an effective in-person meeting;
- Taking note of the assessment reached by the Subcommittee members that the conditions for an
 effective in-person meeting could not be ensured and that the Regional Committee should therefore
 meet in a virtual session;
- DECIDED to adopt the special procedures to regulate the conduct of its virtual 68th session set out in the Annex to this decision.

Annex 1

Special procedures to regulate the conduct of the virtual 68th session of the Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean

RULES OF PROCEDURE

1. The Rules of Procedure of the Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean shall continue to apply in full, except to the extent that they are inconsistent with these special procedures, in which case the Regional Committee's decision to adopt these special procedures shall operate as a decision to suspend the relevant Rules of Procedure to the extent necessary, in accordance with Rule 52 of the Rules of Procedure of the Regional Committee.

ATTENDANCE AND OUORUM

- 2. Attendance by Members, States not Members of the Committee, invited representatives of the United Nations, specialized agencies and other international and regional organizations, and non-State actors in official relations with WHO or accredited by the Regional Committee shall be through secure access to videoconferencing or other electronic means allowing representatives to hear other participants and to address the meeting remotely.
- 3. For the avoidance of doubt, virtual attendance by Members shall be taken into account when calculating the presence of a quorum.

ADDRESSING THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR THE EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN

4. Members, States not Members of the Committee, invited representatives of the United Nations, specialized agencies, international and regional organizations, and non-State actors in official relations with WHO or accredited by the Regional Committee are invited to submit written statements of no more than 600 words in one of the working languages of the Regional Committee for posting on the website for the Regional Committee under the related agenda item. They may provide translations of their written statements into one or more of the working languages of the Regional Committee if they so wish. Such translations should be clearly marked with the words "unofficial translation". Written statements should be sent in advance of the opening of the 68th session of the Regional Committee. They may be submitted in lieu of an oral intervention or to complement an oral intervention. Written statements shall remain posted on the website of the Regional Committee until the adoption of the report of the 68th session of the Regional Committee. The content of the written statements submitted in lieu of an oral intervention will be

- summarized, as appropriate, in accordance with the usual practice in the report of the 68th session of the WHO Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean.
- 5. Members, States not Members of the Committee, invited representatives of the United Nations, specialized agencies, international and regional organizations, and non-State actors in official relations with WHO or accredited by the Regional Committee shall have the opportunity, if they so wish, to submit pre-recorded video statements in advance of the opening of the session, to be broadcast during the virtual session in lieu of an oral intervention, with an indication of the agenda item to which they refer. Members' statements will be limited to three minutes, and other entities' statements limited to two minutes.
- 6. During the virtual session, Members, States not Members of the Committee, invited representatives of the United Nations, specialized agencies, international and regional organizations, and non-State actors in official relations with WHO or accredited by the Regional Committee shall be provided with the opportunity to take the floor at the invitation of the Chairperson or on her or his acceding to a request from the organization concerned, in the case that no pre-recorded statement is submitted in advance. Individual statements by Members will be limited to three minutes, and any other intervention will be limited to two minutes.
- 7. Any Member wishing to take the floor should signal their wish to speak.
- 8. Any Member wishing to raise a point of order or exercise a right of reply in relation to an oral or pre-recorded video statement made at the virtual session of the Regional Committee should signal their intention to do so. The right of reply shall be exercised at the end of the relevant virtual meeting. Any Member wishing to exercise a right of reply in relation to a written statement submitted in lieu of an oral intervention should do so in writing as soon as possible and, in any case, no later than 10 working days following closure of the Regional Committee session. A Member wishing to respond to such a reply should do so in writing as soon as possible and, in any case, no later than 10 working days following the posting of the reply to which they respond. Statements so submitted shall form part of the report of the 68th session of the Regional Committee in the language of submission.

REGISTRATION AND CREDENTIALS

- 9. Online registration will follow the normal practice. Additional information is provided in the related circular letter.
- 10. In accordance with Rule 3, the names of representatives, which in the case of Members shall take the form of credentials, shall be communicated electronically to the Regional Director, if possible, no later than 15 September 2021. Given the need to facilitate virtual access to the meeting, all credentials and lists of representatives should be submitted electronically.
- 11. The Officers of the 67th session of the Regional Committee, having assessed before the opening of the 68th session of the Regional Committee whether the credentials of Members are in conformity with the requirements of the Rules of Procedure, shall report to the Regional Committee accordingly during the opening with a view to the Committee making a decision thereon.

MEETINGS

12. All meetings of the Regional Committee shall be held in public. The virtual Regional Committee shall be broadcast on the website for the Regional Committee, in line with usual practice.

DECISION-MAKING

- 13. All decisions of the Regional Committee taken in a virtual meeting should as far as possible be taken by consensus. In any event, given the virtual nature of the meeting, no decision shall be taken by show of hands vote or by secret ballot.
- 14. In the event that a vote is required, voting shall take place by roll-call conducted through the virtual system. During a roll-call vote, should any delegate fail to cast a vote for any reason during the roll-call, that delegate shall be called upon a second time after the conclusion of the initial roll-call. Should the delegate fail to cast a vote on the second roll-call, the delegation shall be recorded as absent.

RESOLUTIONS AND DECISIONS

- 15. Proposals for substantive amendments to proposed resolutions and decisions shall be introduced in writing and transmitted to the Regional Director at least 24 hours prior to the opening of the virtual session of the Regional Committee. The Regional Director shall circulate copies of such amendments to the delegations no later than the opening of the first day of the session.
- 16. Proposed amendments shall be considered by the Officers of the Regional Committee, with the assistance of the Secretariat, with a view to submitting a revised draft resolution or decision to the Regional Committee for adoption before the closure of its session. If adoption of the revised draft resolution or decision is not feasible before the closure of the session, the Regional Director will transmit to Member States any such proposal for consideration under a written silence procedure, as follows:
 - (a) The communication will contain the text of the proposal to be considered under this written silence procedure and will set a date for the receipt of any objections by Members. Any such objection is to be conveyed in writing and addressed to the Regional Director. The date for receipt of any objection will be 14 days from the date of dispatch of the communication.
 - (b) In the absence of the receipt by the set date of any written objection from a Member, the proposal concerned will be considered as validly adopted by the Regional Committee.
 - (c) In the event of the receipt by the set date of one or more written objections from a Member, the proposal concerned will be considered as having not been adopted by the Regional Committee.
 - (d) The Regional Director will inform Members about the outcome of the written silence procedure as soon as possible after the set date referred to in paragraph 16 (a) and will finalize the report of the session of the Committee by summarizing the process outlined above and including the resolution(s) and/or decision(s) as adopted.

USE OF LANGUAGES

17. For the avoidance of doubt, Rule 22 shall continue to apply, whereby oral and pre-recorded video statements made in one of the official languages shall be interpreted into the other official languages.

Decision No. 3 Adoption of the agenda

The Regional Committee adopted the agenda of its 68th session.

Decision No.4 Place and date of future sessions of the Regional Committee

The Regional Committee decided to hold its 69th session at the WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean in Cairo, Egypt, from 10 to 13 October 2022.

Decision No. 5 Verification of credentials

In accordance with the Rules of Procedure of the WHO Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean and Decision No. 2 on special procedures for the virtual 68th session of the WHO Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean, the officers of the 67th session of the Regional Committee assessed that all 21 Members attending the 68th session of the Regional Committee submitted credentials in conformity with the requirements of the Regional Committee's Rules of Procedure. The report of the officers of the 67th session on the verification of credentials was accepted by the Regional Committee. It was further decided to defer any decision on the question of the representation of Afghanistan until such time as the United Nations General Assembly has determined a position on this matter.

Decision No. 6 Award of the State of Kuwait Prize for the Control of Cancer, Cardiovascular Diseases and Diabetes in the Eastern Mediterranean Region

The prevailing situation with the COVID-19 pandemic having meant that the 68th session of the Regional Committee was conducted virtually and with an agenda focusing heavily on COVID-19 topics, there was insufficient meeting time to review the selection process for new laureates for 2021. Accordingly, it was decided to postpone the process to the following year.

Decision No. 7 Award of the Down Syndrome Research Prize

Current Statutes

- 1. The Regional Committee decided not to award the Down Syndrome Research Prize this year based on the recommendation of the Down Syndrome Research Prize Foundation.
- 2. The Regional Committee further decided to change the Statutes in Article 7, point 1, as follows (the other points within Article 7 remain unchanged):

Proposed changes

Current Statutes	Troposed changes
Article 7	Article 7
Proposal and selection of candidates	Proposal and selection of candidates
1. Candidates may be proposed for the Prize or Grant by any national health, education or social administration of a Member State of the World Health Organization within the Eastern Mediterranean Region, or any former recipient of the Prize or Grant. The nomination shall be accompanied by a written statement of the reasons on which it is based. Proposals shall be submitted to the Administrator who shall submit them to the Foundation Committee together with technical comments.	1. Candidates may be proposed for the Prize or Grant by any national health, education or social administration of a Member State of the World Health Organization within the Eastern Mediterranean Region, or any former recipient of the Prize or Grant. The Foundation Committee may also ask relevant WHO staff to proactively search for publications of Down Syndromerelated research studies from scholars in countries of the Region. If any potential candidate(s) were identified, the relevant countries/institutions will be notified and encouraged to submit an application. All nominations shall be accompanied by a written statement and submission of required documents supporting the reasons on which the statement is based. Proposals shall be submitted to the Administrator who shall submit them to the Foundation Committee together with technical comments.